
Tompkins County Strategic Tourism Planning Board 
Wednesday April 15, 2015; 3:00 pm – 5:00 pm 

CVB, 904 East Shore Drive, Ithaca 

AGENDA  Start Time 
1) Opener 3:00 
2) March STPB Meeting Minutes 3:10 

 ACTION – Approve Meeting Minutes
3) Privilege of the Floor 3:12   

 Limit of 3 minutes per person for members of the public to address the board
4) Hospitality Workforce Investment Program – Julia Mattick & Diane Bradac 3:15 

 Annual PRESENTATION
5) Chair’s REPORT 3:40   
6) Staff REPORT – Tom Knipe 3:45   
7) Committee Check‐ins 3:50 

 Task Forces: Agriculinary, Heritage

 Ad‐Hoc Committees – Chmura, Meeting Space, etc.
8) 2015 Tourism Capital Grants – Martha Armstrong 3:55 

 ACTION – Recommend Tourism Capital Grant awards
9) Special ACOD Committee Recommendations – John Spence 4:20 

 REPORT and DISCUSSION
10) CVB 2015 1st Quarter REPORT – Bruce Stoff 4:45 
11) Announcements (time permitting)

Agenda Packet 
1. March 2015 draft STPB meeting minutes
2. Hospitality Workforce Investment program background report
3. 2015 Tourism Capital Grant recommendation packet (to be sent separately)
4. Special ACOD Committee Recommendations (to be sent separately)
5. 2015 Q1 CVB report 

Next Meeting 
Wednesday, May 20th  

MISSION: The Strategic Tourism Planning Board is charged by the 
Tompkins County Legislature with providing oversight and strategic 
direction for tourism initiatives that promote economic development and 
enhance the quality of life in Tompkins County. 

 



Tompkins County Strategic Tourism Planning Board (STPB) 
Meeting Minutes Draft – March 2015 

Page 1  

Date:  March 18, 2015  1 
Time:  3:00-5:00pm 2 
Location:          CVB 3 
 4 
Attendees: 5 

Name Representation 

Christy Agnese  Ithaca College 

Sue Perlgut  Arts-Culture 

Josh Friedman  Arts-Culture 

John Spence  CAP, Non-Voting 

Bruce Stoff  CVB, Non-Voting 

Dwight Mengel E Transportation, Non-Voting 

Gary Ferguson E DIA, Non-Voting 

Jennifer Tavares Chamber, Non-Voting 

Martha Armstrong  TCAD, Non-Voting 

Will Burbank TC Legislature, Non-Voting 

Beverly Baker Associate Member 

Carol Kammen E Associate Member 

Jon Reis  Associate Member 

Tom Knipe Staff 

Jennifer Turner  Staff 
 7 

 8 
 9 
Also in attendance:  10 
 11 
Meeting Agenda 12 
1) February STPB Meeting Minutes  13 

 Action – Approve Meeting Minutes 14 
2) Privilege of the Floor 15 
3) STPB Elevator Speech – Sue Perlgut 16 
4) Staff Report – Tom Knipe 17 
5) Spring 2015 Tourism Grants – Tom Knipe and Steve Hugo 18 

 ACTION – Recommend Tourism Marketing and Advertising Grant Awards 19 
 ACTION – Recommend New Tourism Initiatives Grant Awards 20 
 ACTION – Recommend Tourism Project Grant Awards 21 

6) Spring 2015 Community Celebrations Grants – Sue Perlgut 22 
 ACTION – Recommend Community Celebrations Grant Awards 23 

7) 2015 STPB Goals – Sue Perlgut, Ken Jupiter 24 
 ACTION – Adopt 2015 goals 25 

8) Announcements  26 
 27 
The meeting was called to order at 3:01 PM. 28 
 29 
January 2015 STPB meeting minutes were approved with a friendly amendment. 30 
 31 
Chair’s Report – Sue Perlgut reported that she met with Susan Riley, Deputy Director of Community 32 
Relations at Cornell University, to discuss the Strategic Tourism Planning Board. She went on to note the 33 
importance of having an explanation of what the board does and its purpose. An interactive exercise was 34 
created for members of the board to discuss the reason for being on the board and to come up with a 35 
personal elevator speech to explain what the Strategic Tourism Planning Board is.  Some of the shared 36 
responses from members on why they are on the board were to promote the arts, economic development, 37 
agri-tourism, and to encourage tourism. Members went on to share their explanations of what the boards’ 38 
purpose is. Members were encouraged to email Sue Perlgut with their thoughts for distribution to members. 39 

Name Representation 

Anne Kellerman At-Large 

Ian Golden Recreation 

Ethan Ash  Arts-Culture 

John Gutenberger E Cornell 

Lynnette Scofield  Lodging 

Kelli Cartmill  Lodging 

Rita Rosenberg  Agriculture 

David Blake   At-Large 

Andy Zepp E At-Large 

Stephen Nunley  At-Large 

Steve Hugo At-Large 

Ken Jupiter  At-Large 

Mike Mellor At-Large 

Anne Gossen Arts-Culture 

Sue Stafford E TC3 



Tompkins County Strategic Tourism Planning Board (STPB) 
Meeting Minutes Draft – March 2015 

Page 2  

 40 
Staff Report – Tom Knipe presented members of the board with a short film from the Ithaca Children’s 41 
Garden. He noted that the film was presented to the Strategic Tourism Planning Board as thanks for their 42 
support with the Bulb Labyrinth Memorial Garden that was created as a remembrance to Infants and 43 
children who have passed. Tom went on to note that he receives gratitude from grantees regularly and 44 
wanted to share the community’s gratitude with members for all of their hard work they have done and will 45 
continue to do. 46 
 47 
Spring 2015 Tourism Grants - Steve Hugo opened by giving thanks to all members for their support in the 48 
application review process.  He noted the discussions that took place at the meeting that he, Tom Knipe, 49 
Michael Mellor, Anne Kellerman and Kelli Cartmill attended yesterday. Suggestions were made to review 50 
Tourism Marketing and Advertising grants and New Tourism Initiative grants separately in order to make 51 
dollar allocations to then later discuss whether adjustments need to be made to accommodate a particular 52 
applicant; this idea will be revisited. Preferences to new tourism initiatives were noted as applicants that 53 
have received multiple years of funding will be encouraged to become more independent. Discussions 54 
centered on the imbalance of events of Tourism Project Grants of lasting value over tourism infrastructure 55 
projects. 56 
 57 
Project grant awards were discussed as having no guarantee for a fall round and are not necessarily 58 
required to be used within the grant award year. Applicants with fundable expenses between May of 2015 59 
and April of 2016 were encouraged to apply in the spring 2015 grant round. It was noted that contracts for 60 
project grants can be written for a longer period if the project expects fundable expenses past April 2016. 61 
Members discussed the overlap and similar missions between the Town of Ulysses and Finger Lakes Land 62 
Trust applications. The decision to fully fund the Town of Ulysses was noted as being based on their intent 63 
to identify trails that are located in Tompkins County and their plan to share information with the Finger 64 
Lakes Land Trust. The Finger Lakes Land Trust application is recommended for partial funding and is 65 
encouraged to reach out to other counties involved in the 2015 Gofingerlakes.org project for funding.  An 66 
Outdoor Recreation Taskforce was discussed as another way to promote project collaboration. $36,500 will 67 
be available for a new round of New Tourism Initiatives grants in the fall. 68 
 69 
Action: A vote on recommendations for Tourism Marketing and Advertising, New Tourism Initiatives, and 70 
Tourism Project Grants was proposed with the exception of the following applications: Kitchen Theatre, 71 
Center for the Arts Ithaca, Wharton Studio Museum, Community Arts Partnership, and Center for the Arts 72 
due to members’ conflicts of interest. Anne Gossen moved to accept the committee recommendations, 73 
seconded by Stephen Nunley. Vote: passed by unanimous vote. 74 
 75 
Action: David Blake moved to accept the committee recommendation for Center for the Arts/ Ithaca (Come 76 
for the Gorges, Stay for the Show), seconded by Stephen Nunley. David Blake amended the motion to 77 
include Winter Village Bluegrass & Beyond 2016, also of the Center for the Arts at Ithaca. Vote: Yes 14; No 78 
0; Recusals 1 (Josh Friedman)  79 
 80 
Action: Anne Gossen moved to accept the committee recommendations for the Kitchen Theatre Company 81 
application, seconded by Lynette Scofield. Vote: Yes 14; No 0; Recusals 1 (Stephen Nunley) 82 
 83 
Action: Rita Rosenberg moved to accept the committee recommendations for the Wharton Studio Museum 84 
application, seconded by Christy Agnese. Vote: Yes 14; No 0; Recusals 1 (Ethan Ash) 85 
 86 
Action: Mike Mellor moved to accept the committee recommendations for the Community Arts Partnership 87 
application, seconded by Rita Rosenberg. Vote: Yes 14; No 0; Abstentions 0; Recusals 1 (Sue Perlgut)  88 
 89 
Spring 2015 Community Celebrations Grants – Sue Perlgut reported that the members of the 90 
Community Celebrations Grant Committee include herself, Carol Kammen (Chair), Mike Lane, Jackie 91 
Kippola, Sue Stafford, and Anne Kellerman. Sue went on to report on their committees concerns on 92 
whether the First Unitarian Sesquicentennial Street Fair is eligible. Tom reported on the discussion he had 93 
with the County Attorney’s office about the eligibility of this particular application as well as the objective 94 
standard that can be applied to similar potential applications from faith communities in the future. It was 95 
decided that if the celebration has to happen at the precise location of the aith community in order to to fit 96 



Tompkins County Strategic Tourism Planning Board (STPB) 
Meeting Minutes Draft – March 2015 

Page 3  

with the event plans then it is more likely to not be eligible due to separation of church and state 97 
requirements. Since the event will be a celebration of the ice-cream sundae and will be open and free to all, 98 
as well as the many community organizations involved, it was decided that this event can be funded by the 99 
Community Celebrations Grant program.  100 
 101 
Funding in the amount of $7,218 will be reserved for the fall round. Action: Anne Gossen made the motion 102 
to accept the committee recommendations, seconded by Stephen Nunley. Vote: Passed by unanimous 103 
vote. 104 
 105 
2015 STPB Goals – Recommended 2015 goals for The Strategic Tourism Planning Board were 106 
presented to members. The revisions included timing for all of the recommended goals, and added in the 107 
development of a communications plan for the board. Action: Christy Agnese moved the motion adopting 108 
the 2015 board goals, seconded by Ken Jupiter. Vote: Passed by unanimous vote   109 
 110 
Announcements – Sue Perlgut announced that her film will air tonight at Cinnemapolis at 7:00 p.m. and 111 
again on April 12th. Tom Knipe reported that Streets Alive Film Festival will air at Cinnemapolis on March 112 
19th.Lynette Scofield announced that she is part of the Food Net Board and noted that the Mac and Cheese 113 
Bowl is on Saturday at the Ithaca High School at 12:00 p.m. Stephen Nunley announced that there a few 114 
tickets available for the Kitchen Theatre’s Dance the Night Away on Saturday from 8:00 pm -12:00am. Josh 115 
Friedman announced that on March 26th Belle Sherman Elementary School 4th graders will put on three 116 
short plays they have written. Ethan Ash asked members to save the date for the upcoming Erie Canal 117 
Way/Downtown Investment Forum event at Coltivare on June 4th that serves to promote lodging and food 118 
strategies to promote downtown. Tom will serve on a panel and Ethan Ash and Gary Ferguson will 119 
moderate two of the panels.  120 
 121 
With no further business, the meeting adjourned at 4:18pm. 122 
 123 
Respectfully Submitted, 124 
Jennifer Turner, Administrative Assistant 125 
Tompkins County Planning Department 126 
 127 
Next Meeting Scheduled 128 
Wednesday April 15, 2014 129 



Since  2008, The Strategic Tourism and Planning Board has approved funding to invest in the 

Tompkins County hospitality and tourism industry and pipeline development. The grant has 

been awarded to accomplish five things:  

1. Create an awareness and interest in career pathways in hospitality and tourism (entry 

level and advancement) 

2. Develop employee skills, knowledge and competencies 

3. Increase number of employee industry recognized certifications 

4. Help create local ambassadors  for Tompkins County by providing greater exposure to 

tourism assets and resources 

5.   Further develop training resources and opportunities 

“HOSPITALITY 

AND TOURISM” 

STPB GRANT 

April 2015 

Activities in these five goal areas have been accomplished by workshops, training sessions, 

events, e-learning and consultations; 

   - Hospitality STAR: our premier program, two days of customer service and ambassador   

 training, destination tour, industry leader panel and Taste of Ithaca luncheon;        

 June 16-17th, 8:30-5:00pm, contact hospitalitySTAR@tompkins-co.org 

   - Serv Safe Certification Training: Alcohol, Manager/Supervisor and Food Handler 

    - Metrix E-Learning: on-line courses, accounts for 190 days, courses  focused  on customer 

 service, supervisory skills, workplace safety and hospitality 

   - Customer Service and Dealing with Difficult People workshops 

   - Hospitality Employment and Training program (HETP): intensive training and internship 

 program in collaboration with GIAC 

   - Human Resource Law; session on HR laws and legislative changes 

   - Getting Greener II; workshop focused on sustainability practices 

For questions or additional information, contact Julia Mattick JMattick@tompkins-co.org 

or Diane Bradac, DBradac@tompkins-co.org 



BECOME A 
HOSPITALITY 

STAR!
Tuesday - Wednesday

June 16 - 17, 2015 
8:30 a.m. - 5 p.m.

Build knowledge about the Tompkins County 
hospitality industry and learn skills you can 
apply to your job in this two-day certificate 
program designed in partnership with the 

Convention and Visitors Bureau, 
Tompkins Workforce New York, and 
representatives from the industry.

Tompkins County Hospitality Star Program
Sponsored by: Tompkins Workforce New York, 

Tompkins County Tourism Program, 
Downtown Ithaca Alliance, Tompkins County Convention 

and Visitors Bureau, and TC3 Biz

“The Hospitality Star program was a fun, 
informative program that really enhanced 
my product knowledge of Tompkins County. 
Since completing the program, I have also 
been promoted to an assistant manager role.”

“The instructors were terrific.  
They were honest and passionate, and they 
gave us useful information.”

“The panelists provided me some real insight 
into what my future can be in hospitality.”



DAY 1 - Tuesday, June 16
Location: Tompkins County Convention and Visitors Bureau
904 East Shore Drive, Ithaca

Understanding Your Role and the Nature 
and Culture of Hospitality and Service 
in Tompkins County (8:30 - 11:30 a.m.)

What’s your role as an ambassador in the hospitality industry? 
How can you maximize your contribution? During this interactive 
workshop with Sue Stafford, who chairs TC3’s Hotel and 
Restaurant Management degree program and is a former 
Condé Nast evaluator, you’ll learn about this and more.

Lunch - (11:30 - noon)

Destination Tompkins County!* (noon - 5 p.m.) 

You can be a “tourist” today! This special program will include a 
tour of key locations in Tompkins County accompanied by a binder 
of maps and information about local attractions, restaurants, and 
hotels that you can use to help visitors to our community! 

DAY 2 - Wednesday, June 17
Location: Downtown Visitors Center
171 E. State St. Ithaca

Walking Tour of Downtown Visitor Center and 
Workforce New York
(8:30 - 9:15 a.m.)

Gather for Walking Tour of Downtown Visitor Center, Workforce NY 
and highlights of Downtown.

“This has been a great 
program! I have learned 
a lot from it and will apply 
it to my job and pass the 
knowledge along.”
                          - Former participant

Walking Tour of Downtown* 
(9:15 - 11:15 a.m.)

Panel of Industry Leaders 
Lunch - (11:30 - 12:45 p.m.)
Location: Borg Warner room at the 
Tompkins County Public Library

Greater Customer Connections (1 - 4:30 p.m.)

The proper handling of customers during front line service 
and sales transactions often determines opportunities for our 
future customer relations and sales. During this workshop, you will 
learn proven methods for improving this point of customer contact 
based on concepts from the presenter’s nationally published book, 
Greater Customer Connections.

Graduation Reception (4:30 - 5 p.m.) 
with awarding of certificates
Location: Coltivare, 235 S. Cayuga Street 

Lunch and morning refreshments included both days

Fee: No Cost. Pre-registration is required. This program is made 
available with funding from the Tompkins County Tourism Program. 
Participants need to be living in and/or working in the hospitality/
tourism industry in Tompkins County.

You must attend all parts of the program to receive your certificate.

Space is limited. Please talk to your supervisor early!

Register by calling Tompkins Workforce Investment Board at 
607.274.7526 or e-mailing hospitalitySTAR@tompkins-co.org.
Equal Opportunity Employer/Program.

Auxiliary aids and services are available upon request 
to individuals with disabilities.

* Please be aware that tours require significant walking. 
  Please notify us in advance of mobility issues. 

From a former participant:

“I learned so much that I can use right away in my job.”  



 

Tompkins County Area Development 
401 E. State St. | E. MLK Jr. St., Suite 402B  
Ithaca, New York 14850 
T: 607-273-0005 | www.tcad.org  

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 To: STP Tourism Board 
 From: Martha Armstrong  <marthaa@tcad.org> 
 Date: April 13, 2015 
 Re: Review 2015 Tourism Capital Grant Recommendations – April 15, 2015 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
At the April 15 meeting, we will review the Tourism Capital Grant applications summarized in 
the table below.  The table indicates the project value, the request, and the Tourism Capital Grant 
Review Committee’s recommendations.  The STP Board will act by deciding what to 
recommend to the County legislature. Synopses of each application and additional program 
information are on the following pages. Complete application materials provided by the 
applicants are available online at TCAD’s website – please go to the following url: 
http://www.tcad.org/?page_id=1477 which requires the password tcad2015. 
 
 
Application Summary 
 
Application 

App*  
Type 

Project  
Value 

REQUEST RECOMMENDATION 
Grant Award years Grant Award years 

Ithaca Children’s Garden: Very Hungry 
Caterpillar Boardwalk Study 

F 16,170 16,170 2015 16,000 2015 

TC Chamber Foundation: Stewart Park 
Buildings Five Year Priority Plan 

F 39,490 39,490 2015 20,000 2015 

City of Ithaca: Lake Street Public Park 
Enhancement 

C 240,000 80,000 Could accept 
multi-year 

20,000 10,000  2015 
10,000  2016 

Ithaca Children’s Garden: Pavilion 
Design 

C 123,257 35,475 2015 0  

Ithaca Farmers Market Bathroom 
Trailer 

C 31,000 10,300 2015 5,000 2015 

PRI MoTE Smithsonian exhibits 
 

C 392,445 117,730 58,865 2015 
58,865 2016 

50,000 23,000  2015 
27,000  2016 

Sciencenter: Sagan Walk Expansion  
 

C 110,000 36,667 20,000 2015 
16,667 2016 

25,000 20,000  2015 
5,000  2016 

 
TOTALS 

 952,362 335,832   
136,000 

 
 94,000  2015 
42,000  2016 

* FS is Feasibility Study, C is capital grant 
 
  



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 2 
 
Budget Comments: 
 
The Tourism Capital Grant program has $205,000 available for grants.   
• $94,000 is available to distribute in 2015 
• TCAD recommends that up to $111,000 could be awarded for future years through multi-

year awards. Awarding a lower amount will continue the trend of growing the program’s 
capacity to award funds during the year of the application.  

 
See page 19 for the multi-year budget and recommendation worksheet. 
 
 
 
Overarching Review Committee Comments: 
 

How incredible is this group of applications? – three of seven have national marketability: 
• An installation involving nationally renowned author Eric Carle 
• The Smithsonian selects to send their exhibits to Museum of the Earth 
• An exhibit is going to the moon for the Sciencenter  

 
However, given the budget, it was clear the applicants’ requests could not be fully funded. 
 
The Committee was cautious of high levels of in-kind value presented by several of the 
applications. 
 
The Committee decided to fund just one of the applications from the Ithaca Children’s 
Garden. After thorough discussion they settled on the Very Hungry Caterpillar. 
 
The recommendations emphasize making awards in year one, with several two-year 
distributions. This will allow there to be more funds available during the first year for future 
applicants. 

 



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 3 
Application Briefs 
 
Ithaca Children’s Garden: Very Hungry Caterpillar Boardwalk Study 
ICG proposes to install an experiential telling of The Very Hungry Caterpillar book along the 
new boardwalk. The study will prototype the overall design and design of elements to test with 
visitors over the course of the summer, and then develop the final design of the experiential 
exhibit. 
 
TC Chamber Foundation: Stewart Park Buildings Five-Year Priority Plan 
The Study builds on previous Stewart Park studies to conduct a detailed survey and assessment 
of building systems, update the vision for the future use of park buildings, and develop cost 
estimates for anticipated building improvements.  The Priority Plan will assist park revitalization 
partners in project phasing and sequencing to assist in budgeting and fundraising efforts.   
 
City of Ithaca: Lake Street Public Park Enhancement 
As the City prepares to replace the bridge over Fall Creek on Lake Street, they propose 
improvements to the sidewalk, cross walk, and the overlook park that will increase safety and 
access to viewing the Ithaca Falls and also provide seating, bike racks and interpretation. 
 
Ithaca Children’s Garden: Pavilion Design 
ICG developed the design for the Edible Forest Garden Pavilion over two years starting with a 
Cornell student studio ideation process.  The effort has engaged many professionals both 
volunteering and paid. ICG is poised to complete design development and construction 
documents, continuing involvement of many volunteers and led by Stream Collaborative. 
 
Ithaca Farmers Market Bathroom Trailer 
Purchase and install a six-unit bathroom trailer that increases toilets available at the Market from 
3 to 9.  The new trailer will serve the Market and expanded traffic expected from the completion 
of the Cayuga Waterfront Trail in fall 2015. 
 
PRI MoTE Smithsonian exhibits 
PRI will restore, and install exhibits donated by the Smithsonian from exhibits that are being 
replaced. These include five dioramas, carboniferous plant models, two dinosaur exhibits, and an 
ice and sediment core exhibit.  These will significantly expand the MoTE’s permanent exhibits. 
 
Sciencenter: Sagan Walk Expansion  
The Sagan Planet Walk will be restored and two new stations will be added at the Sciencenter: 
(1) a replica of the star station (Alpha Centauri) located in Hawai’i and (2) a replica of a station 
representing exoplanet Kepler-37d which will be installed on the moon by Astrobotic 
Technology Inc. in the fall of 2015.  Includes improvements to the Sagan Planet Walk guides.  
 
 
 
Synopses of each application with Review Committee comments, are on pages 4-14. 
 



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 4 
Synopsis of Ithaca Children’s Garden 
Feasibility Study:  Very Hungry Caterpillar Installation 
 
Background: The Ithaca Children’s Garden (ICG) was founded in 1999.  Since 2004, it 
has had a 25-year lease from the City of Ithaca for three acres in Cass Park.  ICG offers 
both a public garden and educational programs.  ICG has grown from an estimated 3,000 
visitors in 2004 to 18,100 visitors in 2014, including 2,525 out of town visitors.  ICG 
estimates they had 16,800 visitors in 2013. ICG hired a new Executive Director and 
elected 7 new board members in 2011.  This has brought renewed focus on vision, 
program expansion, garden development, and fundraising (such as the Tough Turtle 
event which raised over $60,000 in 2013). 
 
Annual Budget: $405,000 
 
Project: ICG proposes to install an experiential telling of The Very Hungry Caterpillar book 
along the new boardwalk. The study will prototype the overall design and design of elements to 
test with visitors over the course of the summer and develop the final design of the experiential 
exhibit. A consultant will be hired to evaluate visitor interaction with the prototyped elements of 
the exhibit.  ICG aims to create an iconic project like the “Make Way For Ducklings” bronze 
sculpture at the Boston Public Gardens.  Author Eric Carle and The Family Reading Partnership 
are key partners for this project. 
 
Request: $16,170 for purchase of materials and elements and to hire a consultant.  ICG estimates 
staff and volunteers will provide $13,806 of in-kind services toward the project.  
 
Schedule: Completion by December 2015 
 
Tourism Strategic Plan  

Page 18: Goal: Develop Ithaca and Tompkins County as a regional hub of culinary and 
agritourism 

Page 19: Goal: Develop Ithaca and Tompkins County as a central arts, cultural and heritage 
tourism destination in the Finger Lakes. 

Page 22: Goal: Increase educational tourism  

Page 23: Goal: Expand outdoor recreation and other tourism related to our outstanding 
natural amenities: Cayuga Lake, gorges and waterfalls, trails, parks, and natural areas.  

Page 26: Goal: Develop Ithaca and Tompkins County as the preeminent Sustainability 
Tourism destination in New York State.  

Page 28: Goal: Increase the perception of Ithaca and Tompkins County as an outstandingly 
beautiful community that is simple for visitors to navigate and as a place to visit for the 
overall beauty of the area. 

 
 



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 5 
Recent Tourism Grants 
2013 Fresh Air for Families: Compost to Cuisine   $8,000 
2013 FAF:  Tourism Marketing and Advertising   $2,200   
2014 Tourism Capital Grant: Edible Forest Garden Phase I $34,000 
 
Celebrations Grants 
Spring 2013  International Mud Day   $1,000 
Fall 2013  Festival of Fire & Ice    $1,200 
Spring 2014  International Mud Day   $1,500 
Fall 2015  Festival of Fire & Ice    $1,600 
 
 
Summary of the Review Committee’s Comments: Very Hungry Caterpillar 
 

• Impressed with the ICG’s growth in visitorship over the past decade. The ICG serves 
both young children and pre-teens.   

 
• Nationally renowned book and authors will likely attract some national attention. Will 

not be enough to attract visitors, but will enhance tourism value for families visiting the 
County. Would like to see this installation implemented soon, and hopes some of the 
prototype elements can immediately become part of the permanent installation, for 
example the “cocoons”. 

 
• Of the two applications, the ICG had stated a preference to fund this project if only one 

could be funded. 
 
 



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 6 
Synopsis of Tompkins County Chamber of Commerce Foundation 
Feasibility Study:  Stewart Park Buildings Five Year Priority Plan 
 
Background: The Stewart Park Five Year Priority Plan builds on two past feasibility studies: the 
2009 Stewart Park Rehabilitation Action Plan and the 2011 Stewart Park Building Rehabilitation 
Study. (Both studies were funded by the Tourism Capital Grant program.) Stewart Park, formerly 
Renwick Park was purchased by the City of Ithaca in 1921.  Users of the park come for rest and 
recreation, attend major events, walk trail, watch birds, attend camp, and rent facilities for 
private parties. In 2013, Friends of Stewart Park (FSP) estimate the park has 150,000 visitors 
annually with about 25% from outside the County, and 15% from greater than 75 miles away. 
Park Foundation grant funds are being sought to undertake a visitor survey.  
 
Annual Budget: $46,300 
 
Project: The Priority Plan builds on previous Stewart Park studies to conduct a detailed survey 
and assessment of building systems, update the vision for the future use of park buildings, and 
develop detailed cost estimates for anticipated building improvements.  Four buildings are 
included: Large Pavilion, Maintenance/Wharton Studio, Boathouse, Concessions.  The Priority 
Plan will assist park revitalization partners in making better informed decisions about project 
phasing and sequencing to assist in budgeting and fundraising efforts.  Consultants include: 
Kingsbury Architecture, Claudia Brenner, Taitem Engineering, Dende Structural Consultants. 
The City Engineering Department is a key partner in this project. 
 
Request: $39,490 for entire study cost, which includes $3,590 for admin.  A reduced scope fee 
could be in the $20,000 to $25,000 range (two buildings: Large Pavilion, Maintenance/Wharton). 
 
Schedule: About five months, complete by year end 
 
Supports Tourism Strategic Plan 
page 19 & 20:  Develop … a central arts, cultural, and heritage tourism destination 
 
page 23: Goal: Expand outdoor recreation and other tourism related to our outstanding natural 
amenities: Cayuga Lake, gorges and waterfalls, trails, parks, and natural areas.  
 
page 36 Critical Actions: #11 Support the Stewart Park Rehabilitation Action Plan 
 
Recent Tourism Grants 
2013 Stewart Park Rehabilitation – Phase 1 Building Improvements (Large Pavilion) $70,500 
 
Summary of the Review Committee’s Comments: Stewart Park Buildings 
 

• These five buildings represent untapped potential to attract tourists.   
• There was some discussion as to whether the park could manage traffic needed for the 

Wharton Studio Museum, though it was seen as a plus for colder months as a Museum 
could provide a warm place for winter visitors to the Park.  Would support year round 
access to the park. 



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 7 
• Stewart Park is a key access point to the lake and has great views of the lake.  There is 

lots of room to improve the park. 
• Providing concessions and more bathrooms are important support for events at the Park. 
• This study provides the information needed to understand feasibility of major 

improvements of the park 
• Study is scalable so partial funding can be used effectively. 
• The grant cannot be used to support the administrative costs.  

 
 



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 8 
  
Synopsis of City of Ithaca’s 
Capital Grant: Lake Street Public Park Enhancement  
 
Background: The City of Ithaca hosts many of the 843,000 visitors that come to Tompkins 
County each year. Ithaca Falls is a popular destination for visitors.  Based on visits to other 
major waterfalls in the area, the City estimates about 174,000 visitors see the Ithaca Falls 
annually.  (Same as Buttermilk Falls State Park.) The Convention and Visitors Bureau markets 
this destination for the City.  About 9,000 visitors are directed to Ithaca Falls from the Visitors 
Center at the Chamber, as well as being featured in the CVB’s marketing materials. 
 
Annual Budget: $65 million 
 
Project: As the City prepares to replace the bridge over Fall Creek on Lake Street, they propose 
improvements to the sidewalk, cross walk, and the overlook park that will increase safety and 
access to viewing the Ithaca Falls and also provide seating, bike racks, landscaping and an 
interpretive feature.  A new metal guard rail with a gate is a major element of the project.  The 
stairs down to the creek will also be rebuilt.  The viewing area will be ADA accessible. 
 
Request: $80,000, 1/3 of the estimated total project cost of $240,000. Note: $138,500 are 
committed from the IURA, Regional ED Council (ESD), and the City’s sidewalk program. 
 
 
Schedule: Construction is anticipated for September 2015 
 
 
Tourism Strategic Plan: 
page 23 & 24: Expand outdoor recreation and other tourism related to our outstanding natural 
amenities: Cayuga lake, gorges and waterfalls, trails, parks and natural areas 
 
Recent County Tourism grants 2012 to 2013  
 
N/A 
 
Summary of the Review Committee’s Comments: Lake Street Park 
 

• The City clearly has capacity to implement this project 
• The estimated visitorship numbers seemed high. 
• The park can be accessed by walking from Cornell and downtown Ithaca, which is a plus. 

However, limited parking, mostly in a private parking lot, is a limitation to increasing 
visitors to this attraction. 

• Improvements to this popular waterfall viewing site are really needed. 
• We undersell our remarkable waterfalls.  These improvements will help.  We also need 

way-finding signage so visitors find this waterfall. 
• Felt that the County’s contribution should go toward the municipal aspects of basic 

structure of this project; funds could be more easily raised for the amenities such as 
benches, bike rack and interpretive elements. 

 



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 9 
Synopsis of Ithaca Children’s Garden’s 
Capital Grant: Pavilion Design  
 
Background: The Ithaca Children’s Garden (ICG) was founded in 1999.  Since 2004, it 
has had a 25-year lease from the City of Ithaca for three acres in Cass Park.  ICG offers 
both a public garden and educational programs.  ICG has grown from an estimated 3,000 
visitors in 2004 to 18,100 visitors in 2014, when an estimated 23%, or 4,150, came from 
outside Tompkins County and 8%, or 1,450, came from greater than 75 miles away.  
 
ICG hired a new Executive Director and elected 7 new board members in 2011.  This has 
brought renewed focus on vision, program expansion, garden development, and fundraising 
(such as the Tough Turtle event which raised over $60,000 in 2013). In 2014 ICG received a 
$34,000 award for their Edible Forest Garden Phase 1, including completion of the fence, 
installation of the boardwalk and completion of the outdoor kitchen, which is now substantially 
complete. 
  
Annual Budget: $405,000  
 
Project: ICG proposes to complete the design and construction documents for Phase 2 of the 
Edible Forest Garden Pavilion. Overall, the new garden is designed with an arrangement of 
permanent plantings known as Permaculture, which will produce a bounty of edible foods each 
year without replanting annually. This project also includes several key pieces of infrastructure 
for the entire Children’s Garden. The proposed Phase 2 includes: 
• a large pavilion will provide a gathering space for 100 people, a sheltered growing area for 

extended-season and fragile plants, and solar panels for energy 
• a cistern to collect rainwater for fountains and irrigation 
 
The gardens of the Edible Forest Garden will have twelve sections each planted around a central 
fruit or nut tree. The Phase 2 pavilion/cistern needs to be designed and built before the plantings 
are installed.  Design ideation was begun in 2013 with a Cornell Landscape Architecture 
professor/class. A number of professionals have donated design and research time to concept 
development.  Stream Collaborative is the lead design firm.   Stream will lead completion of 
design development and construction documents, coordinating volunteers’ input.  They will 
subsequently lead pricing, permitting and construction oversight. 
 
Request: $35,475, toward the total value $123,257 (matching value is all donated in-kind 
contributions) 
 
Schedule:  completion of construction documents by winter 2015/2016 for construction in 2016 
 
Tourism Strategic Plan  

Page 18: Goal: Develop Ithaca and Tompkins County as a regional hub of culinary and agri-
tourism 

Page 19: Goal: Develop Ithaca and Tompkins County as a central arts, cultural and heritage 
tourism destination in the Finger Lakes. 

Page 22: Goal: Increase educational tourism  



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 10 
Page 23: Goal: Expand outdoor recreation and other tourism related to our outstanding 
natural amenities: Cayuga Lake, gorges and waterfalls, trails, parks, and natural areas.  

Page 26: Goal: Develop Ithaca and Tompkins County as the preeminent Sustainability 
Tourism destination in New York State.  

Page 28: Goal: Increase the perception of Ithaca and Tompkins County as an outstandingly 
beautiful community that is simple for visitors to navigate and as a place to visit for the 
overall beauty of the area. 

Page 32:Goal: Enhance collaboration and partnership on tourism related initiatives between 
tourism partners and our institutions of higher education. 

 
Recent Tourism Grants 
2013 Fresh Air for Families: Compost to Cuisine   $8,000 
2013 FAF:  Tourism Marketing and Advertising   $2,200   
2014 Tourism Capital Grant: Edible Forest Garden Phase I $34,000 
 
Celebrations Grants 
Fall 2012  Festival of Fire & Ice    $900 
Spring 2013  International Mud Day   $1,000 
Fall 2013  Festival of Fire & Ice    $1,200 
Spring 2014  International Mud Day   $1,500 
Fall 2015  Festival of Fire & Ice    $1,600 
 
Summary of the Review Committee’s Comments: Children’s Garden Pavilion Design 
 

• The Review Committee decided against funding this project of the ICG. 
o There was a very high in-kind value presented for this project, it was out of 

proportion 
o Concern that the organization does not have funds, or funding strategy, to build 

what appears to be a very ambitious design 
• Nevertheless, the Committee likes the idea of having the pavilion as it will extend the 

visitor season by 4 months, support activities in wet weather, provide a place for hosting 
small conferences, and the cistern will reduce operating costs. Also, the pavilion builds 
on the previously supported Edible Forest Garden grant. 

• Thus the Review Committee encourages ICG to develop this project and the funding 
strategy further, and re-apply to the Tourism Capital Grant program. 

 
 



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 11 
Synopsis of Ithaca Farmers’ Market 
Capital Grant: Bathroom Expansion 
 
Background: The Ithaca Framers Market was founded in the 1970s and moved to Steamboat 
Landing in 1990.  IFM hosts over 110,000 visitors annually with about 10,000 from greater than 
75 miles away.  IFM is one of the area’s premier tourism destinations and provides a venue to 
enjoy local foods and crafts as well as the waterfront.  In the fall of 2015 it is expected that the 
Cayuga Waterfront Trail Phase 2 will be built – completing the trail.  Completion will finally 
link Cass Park and Stewart Park to the Farmers Market and increase access to IFM destination. 
 
Annual Budget: $250,000 
 
Project: The Farmers Market proposes to purchase and install a bathroom trailer that includes 
six compartments, increasing the number of toilets/washrooms at the Market from three to nine.  
The Market rented a similar trailer for the 2014 season and found it was a great improvement for 
their customers.  Given the completion of the Cayuga Waterfront Trail and prospects of greater 
visitation at the Market, the IFM proposed to invest in a trailer as a permanent installation. 
 
Request: $10,000, which is about 1/3 of the total trailer cost: $31,000 
 
 
Schedule: Purchase and install the trailer by June 2015.  Electric, water, and sewer hook ups 
were installed in 2014 to accommodate the rental trailer. 
 
 
Supports Tourism Strategic Plan: 
 
Page 17: Develop Ithaca and Tompkins County as a regional hub of culinary and agri-tourism 
Page 23: Expand outdoor recreation and other tourism related to our outstanding natural 
amenities: Cayuga Lake, gorges and waterfalls, trails, parks, and natural areas. 
 
 
Recent County Tourism grants 
 
N/A 
 
 
Summary of the Review Committee’s Comments: Farmer’s Market Bathroom Trailer 
 
 

• This is a good and needed project.  It is particularly important to provide more restrooms 
as the Waterfront Trail reaches the Market and increases visitors. 

• It will contribute to a healthier tourism experience. 
 

 



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 12 
  
Synopsis of PRI/Museum of the Earth’s (MoTE) 
Capital Grant: PRI Smithsonian Permanent Exhibit 
 
Background The Paleontological Research Institute (PRI) was founded in 1932. The Museum of 
the Earth (MOTE), opened in 2003, is one of the County’s major museums.  In 2014 the MoTE 
had 27,600 visitors, 56% are from outside Tompkins County and 27% (about 7,400) from greater 
than 75 miles away.  About 6,000 visitors are children.  (Combined visitorship with the Cayuga 
Nature Center was 33,766.)  The MoTE explores 4.5 billion years of natural history.  It has 
hands-on and visual exhibits as well as field trips, outreach, and curriculum development 
programs.  The museum encourages critical thinking about life on earth as well as human impact 
on the natural world.   
 
Annual Budget: PRI/MoTE: $2,355,558 (not including about $400,000 budget for the Cayuga 
Nature Center) 
 
Project:  The Smithsonian Institute’s Museum of Natural History selected the Museum of the 
Earth to receive a number of exhibits that the Smithsonian is replacing during a major renovation 
of its Fossil Hall. The MoTE will restore, and install these exhibits including: five dioramas, 
carboniferous plant models, two dinosaur exhibits, and an ice and sediment core exhibit.  The 
process requires storing the exhibits, restoring the exhibits, designing and preparing the 
installation spaces at the museum, and final installation of each exhibit and element. These 
contributions will significantly expand the MoTE’s permanent exhibits.  
 
 
Request: $117,730, 1/3 of the project’s total value of $392,445 ($151,645 paid for expenses and 
$240,00 in-kind contributions from Smithsonian)  
 
Schedule: Smithsonian exhibits will be shipped during April 2015.  Restoration and installation 
will occur in three phases during 2015 and 2016. 
 
Tourism Strategic Plan  
page 6: (overarching goal) Provide memorable experiences and legendary service that will 
educate, delight and relax visitors, compel them to tell others and motivate repeat visits 
page 19: Develop Ithaca and Tompkins County as a central arts, cultural and heritage tourism 
destination in the Finger Lakes. 
page 22: Increase educational tourism – including measurable objective “increase Discovery 
Trail visitation”.  PRI is a Discovery Trail member. 
 
Recent Tourism Grants for MoTE 
Capital Grant 2013 10th Anniversary Exhibit Enhancements MoTE $32,000 
ACOD 2013-2014 $40,000 annually 
Project Grant 2014 Laurie Anderson $5,000 
Marketing Grant 2014 Laurie Anderson $3,000 
Project Grant 2013 John Gurche $6,000 
Marketing Grant 2014 Dr. Scott Weekend $4,174 
Project and Marketing Grant 2014 Smithsonian exhibit sponsor $7,000 



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 13 
 
Summary of the Review Committee’s Comments: Smithsonian exhibits at MoTE 
 

• The Smithsonian exhibits have a “wow” factor.  These exhibits could drive increased 
visitorship to the museum and make it more of a regional draw. 

• Committee recommends providing 1/3 of actual costs for preparation and installation of 
these exhibits 

 
 



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 14 
Synopsis of Sciencenter’s 
Capital Grant:  Sagan Planet Walk Moon Station and Renovation 
 
Background: The Sciencenter is a hands-on science museum founded in 1983. It currently 
attracts about 98,000 visitors annually – 37% are from outside the County and 12% staying at 
overnight accommodations. Primary visitors are families with children.  School trips are also 
frequent visitors. Their mission is to inspire excitement for science through interactive exhibits 
and programs that engage, educate, and empower.  Their vision is that every young person is 
empowered to use science in shaping a better future for themselves, their community and the 
world. 
 
Annual Budget: $1.8 million 
 
Project:. The Sagan Planet Walk was dedicated in 1997.  It is a free outdoor exhibit that 
provides a scale model of our solar system. The Sagan Planet Walk will be restored and two new 
stations will be added at the Sciencenter: (1) a replica of the star station (Alpha Centauri) located 
in Hawai’i and (2) a replica of a station representing exoplanet Kepler-37d which will be 
installed on the moon by Astrobotic Technology Inc. in the fall of 2015.  Improvements will be 
made to the written and audio Sagan Planet Walk guides. The Sciencenter will conduct a 
professional visitor study of the Sagan Planet Walk as part of this project. 
 
Request: $36,667 over 2 years toward total project value of $110,000. 
 
Schedule: approximately six month.  Final installation of the two new stations is planned to 
coincide with the moon launch in approximately October 2015. 
 
Tourism Strategic Plan  
page 6: (overarching goal) provide memorable experiences and legendary service that will 
educate, delight and relax visitors, compel them to tell others and motivate repeat visits 
page 20:  Develop as a central arts, culture and heritage destination 
page 22: Increase educational tourism – including measurable objective “increase Discovery 
Trail visitation” 
 
Recent Tourism Grants 
• 2013 to 2015 ACOD support for campaign consultant $17,000 annually: $51,000 total 
• Project Grant 2013 $13,500: Exhibition Mars Rover 
• Feasibility Study 2013 $12,500: Prototyping Mini-Golf Science-themed Challenges 
• 2014 Mini Golf construction $25,000 
• 2014 Project Grant Curiosity Corner $14,000 
 
Summary of the Review Committee’s Comments: Sagan Planet Walk 
 

• Sciencenter clearly has capacity to implement this project 
• Support refurbishing the existing stations 
• Great national and even global exposure possible because of the moon exhibit 
• That kind of recognition should help attract non-local funds to the Sciencenter 

 
 



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 15 

  
INFORMATION FOR REVIEWERS 
 
Tourism Capital Grants program fund status 
 
As of March 2015, there is $205,000 available in the program’s fund for grants – $94,000 is 
available for grants in 2015.  I recommend that up to another $111,000 may be committed for 
future years through multi-year awards. 
 
What is on the horizon?  
 
This program has a single round annually. 
 
I expect there will continue to be strong applicant interest for the next several years.  Most of the 
feasibility studies we have funded over the past several years are likely to generate eligible 
capital projects in the next several years. 
 
 
Other Information 
 
The Review Committee uses a scoring grid as a discussion guide, it is not a point system to 
determine the awards. 
 
For your information, also enclosed are: 
• Multi-year grant worksheet with current commitments 
• History of the Tourism Capital grants awards since inception (by recipient) 
• Criteria for Grants from the application guide 
• The Review Committee’s Conflict of Interest Policy 
 
The scoring grid is at the end of the packet. 
 
 
TCAD Tourism Capital Grants Review Committee members:  
 
April 2015: 
• Andy Sciarabba (TCAD) Chair 
• Jennifer Tavares (TCAD) 
• Ken Jupiter (STP) 
• Mary Kane (TCAD) 
• Stephen Nunley (STP) 
• Steve Hugo (STP) 
• Steve Snyder (TCAD) 
• Will Burbank (TC Leg) 
 
  



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 16 
Tourism Capital Grants  

Multi-Year Recommendations Worksheet 
 
 

 

 
 
 
Notes to STP about 2015 budget adjustments:  

• Added $13,976 2014 budgeted but unspent 
• Added back in $5,000 encumbrance release – unused Hangar Theatre feasibility 

study  
• Results in $18,976 added to 2015 Tourism Capital Grant budget.  
• Brings total 2015 budget from 199,960 to 218,936 

Budget Info (estimates italicized) 2015 2016* 2017* 2018* 2019*
Annual Budget 199,960 203,959 208,038 212,199 216,443
Budget Adjustment - previous year allocated/unspent add 13,976
Released Encumbrance to add to current year add 5,000
TCAD Admin expenses subtract 13,936 14,280 14,566 14,857 15,154
Past Multi-Year Awards Year award 205,000 189,679 193,473 197,342 201,289
Cay Nat Ctr '11 2011 100,000 12,000
State Theatre Bathrooms 2013 42,000 20,000
Stewart Park Rehab Phase I 2013 70,500 25,000 10,000
Blueway Trail Design 2014 10,000 10,000
CSMA 3rd Floor Capital Phase I 2014 55,000 24,000
PRI-CNC Cayuga Lake Exhibit 2014 40,000 10,000 10,000
Sciencenter Minigolf 2014 25,000 10,000 15,000
Committed 111,000 35,000
Available for new grants 94,000 154,679 193,473 197,342 201,289

Proj Recommend
Current Grants Value Request 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
ICG: Very Hungry Caterpillar 16,170 16,170 16,000
Stewart Park Buildings 5 Yr Plan 39,490 39,490 20,000
Lake Street Public Park 240,000 80,000 10,000 10,000
ICG: Pavilion Design 123,257 35,475 0
Farmers Market Bathroom Trailer 31,000 10,300 5,000
PRI MoTE Smithsonian exhibits 392,445 117,730 23,000 27,000
Sciencenter: Sagan Walk Expansion 110,000 36,667 20,000 5,000
Total 952,362 335,832 94,000 42,000

Available for new grants 0 112,679 193,473 197,342 201,289

*budget escalated 2% 2016 to 2019
prepared by TCAD: Edition: March 21, 2015



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 17 
Detailed History of Awards 

	  
 
 
Recipient 

 
 

Year 

 
Grant 
value 

Feas 
Study or 

Capital 

sum of 
multiple 

grants 

total 
project 

value 

Cayuga Lake Blueway Trail 2014 10,000 f 10,000 18,000 
      
Cayuga Nature Center Feas 2008 13,500 f   
Cayuga Nature Center 2009 100,000 c   
Cayuga Nature Center 2011 100,000 c   
Cayuga Nature Center 2014 40,000 c 253,500 801,280 
      
CSMA 3rd Floor study 2013 8,000 f   
CSMA 3rd Floor renovations 2014 55,000 c 63,000 173,560 
      
Dorothy Cotton Institute 2010 7,500 f 7,500 7,500 
      
FLLT Emerald Necklace boardwalk 2012 20,000 c 20,000 76,550 
      
Hangar Theatre 2003 9,000 f   
Hangar Theatre 2008 84,000 f   
Theatre for All Seasons capital  2009 100,000 c   
Hangar Theatre study complete 
All Seasons 

2013 5,000 f 198,000 3,212,600 

      
Schoolhouse study 2006 10,000 f   
IMPP study 2013 7,500 f   
History Center Tommy study 2013 7,500 f 25,000 23,000 
      
Ithaca Children’s Garden 2009 14,800 c   
Ithaca Children's Garden 2014 34,000 c 48,800 117,609 
      
Ithaca Farmers Market 2005 10,000 c 10,000 51,630 
      
Ithaca Motion Picture Project 2009 5,500 f 5,500 5,500 
      
Ithaca Skate Park 2011 60,000 c 60,000 435,340 
      
Kitchen Theatre Feas 1 2008 13,000 f   
Kitchen Theatre Feas 2 2009 21,000 f   
Kitchen Theatre Capital 2009 100,000 c 134,000 1,236,800 
      
PRI- Museum of Earth- Building 
Expansion 

2003 125,000 c   

MOTE Climate Exhibit/glacier 2010 50,000 c   
PRI/MOTE 10th Anniversary 
exhibits 

2013 32,000 c 207,000 7,632,360 

      

 
(Table continues next page)  



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 18 
(continued from previous page) 
 
 
Recipient 

 
 

Year 

 
Grant 
value 

Feas 
Study or 

Capital 

sum of 
multiple 

grants 

total project 
value 

Sciencenter Golf 2003 25,000 c   
Sciencenter Ocean 2005 20,000 c   
Sciencenter Outdoor 2006 60,000 c   
Sciencenter Marcellus Drilling 
Exhibit 

2011 50,000 c   

Live Animal gallery 2012 30,000 c   
Galaxy Golf study 2013 12,500 f   
Sciencenter Galaxy Golf install 2014 25,000 c 222,500 1,021,420 
      
Historic Ithaca - State Theatre 
Phase 2 

2003 125,000 c   

State Theatre -- Bathroom study 2012 3,780 f   
State Theatre Bathroom constr 2013 42,000 c 170,780 1,254,300 
      
CWT Phase 2 2005 5,000 c   
CWTI interpretive panels and 
Crew cove 

2012 20,000 c 25,000 191,500 

      
Stewart Park Rehab Action Plan  2008 15,000 f   
Stewart Park Building Study 2010 15,000 f   
SP Landscape Study 2012 10,000 f   
Stewart Park Buildings Ph 1   2013 70,500 c 110,500 440,100 
      
Wine Center Feasibility Ph1 2004 5,000 f   
Wine Center Feasibility Ph 2 2005 7,500 f   
Wine Center capital 2007 160,000 c 172,500 519,720 
      
TOTALS    1,743,580 17,218,769 

 
 
 

46 grants total – 20 feasibility, 26 capital 
 

Median award: 
Feasibility: $9,500 
Capital: $46,000 

 
This is the 15th year of operating the program



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 19 
 Criteria for the Grant…from the application guide: 

These grants will focus on major visitor-generating projects such as a new meeting center, the 
State Theater, and museums.  Development of outdoor recreation attractions is a priority of the 
Tourism program.  The funds can be used for:  
• feasibility studies of potential capital projects  
• seed money or one-time investments in unique capital projects  
• ongoing debt funding of building projects  
It is intended that funds for all three types of uses will be available each year.  The fund cannot 
be used to refinance existing debt. 
 
Eligibility  
Applicant Eligibility: large, tourist/visitor generating not-for-profit or public-purpose projects. 
Examples of projects include the Sciencenter Touch Tank permanent exhibit, the Hangar Theater 
renovations for winter operations, the Museum of the Earth new building, and visitor amenities 
for the Cayuga Waterfront Trail.  The organization must track where visitors are from in order to 
establish tourism impact.  The organization must market to visitors beyond Tompkins County. 
 
Project Eligibility 
A.  Capital Investment Projects:  New construction and renovation projects are eligible.  The 
project may provide expansion or renovation to existing facilities, or may be a totally new 
facility.  The fund will usually participate at the $25,000 level or higher.  Funds may contribute 
up to one third of eligible costs that include: 
• acquisition of land 
• acquisition, construction, and renovation of buildings 
• acquisition of furnishings, equipment, permanent exhibitions, and other capital improvements 

designed to serve or promote tourism over a minimum of five years. 
 
B.  Feasibility Studies:  Grants may fund up to 100% of a feasibility study. 
 
Evaluation Criteria 
A.  Capital Investment Projects: 
The application must demonstrate  
• financial feasibility of the project 
• organizational capacity  and commitment to make the project a success 
• likelihood of  

• improved visitor experience and/or 
• increased visitors to the facility and/or 
• visitors increasing their length of stay in order to visit the facility 

 
B.  Feasibility Studies: 
The application must demonstrate  
• preliminary research that supports proceeding to a full scale feasibility study 
• organizational commitment to the project being studied 
• possibility of  

• improved visitor experience and/or  
• increased visitors to the facility and/or 
• visitors increasing their length of stay in order to visit the facility 



Memo to STP Tourism Board re: Tourism Capital Grants 
Recommendations for  Tourism Capital Grants Program: 4/15/15 

Page 20 
 

Tourism Capital Grant Review Committee 
Conflict of Interest Policy 

 
 
The Tourism Capital Grant Review Committee members (hereafter called members) are 
encouraged to play active roles in their communities by serving as board members or otherwise 
being involved with a wide spectrum of organizations. This means that, from time to time, 
potential conflicts of interest or the appearance of such conflicts will inevitably arise. It is the 
committee’s policy to deal with such conflicts in as open and appropriate a way as possible. 
 
Conflicting involvements include but are not limited to the following: members serving as board 
members of applicant organizations, immediate family of members serving as board members of 
organizations affected by the committee’s decisions, members or their immediate family being 
employed by or doing business with such organizations.  Serving on an advisory board to an 
applicant organization should be disclosed, but is generally not considered a conflict of interest 
that requires recusal.  In rare instances, working for an organization that has made a major 
contribution to an applicant organization may be considered a conflict of interest.  
 
In case of such conflicts or the appearance thereof, such members are expected to disclose the 
conflict at the earliest practicable time. Such disclosure shall be made a matter of record.  Once 
such a disclosure has been made, the remaining committee members will determine whether or 
not there is a potential conflict of interest. Should it be so considered, the member involved shall:  
• abstain from voting and shall not participate in the discussion other than to answer specific 

factual questions that may be raised by other members. 
• not attempt to exert his or her personal influence with respect to the matter, either at or 

outside the meeting.  
• be prepared to excuse himself or herself from the room while the matter is discussed and 

voted on if asked to do so by the committee or committee chair. 
• If the member involved is a paid staff of an organization with a current application, that 

member should recuse themselves from all meetings and discussions of applications during 
that funding cycle of grant awards and at least for six months. 

 
The minutes of such meeting shall reflect that a disclosure was made and that the member having 
a possible conflict abstained from voting. 
 
All candidates for membership on the committee should be advised of this policy prior to 
assuming their responsibilities as members. 
 
 



Worksheet for the Tourism Capital Grants Program 
Tompkins County Tourism Program 

  

ICG 
Caterpillar 

Stew Park 
Buildings 

City Lake 
Street Park  

 ICG 
Pavilion 

Market 
Bathrooms 

PRI MoTE 
Smithsonian 

Sciencenter 
Sagan Walk 

Organizational capacity to 
carry out the project 

              
Likelihood of the project to 
increase or improve tourism 
over five years               

Project/organization role in 
the TC  tourism industry 

              

Benefits/Cost -- Return on 
Investment 

              

Value of Project to 
Community 

              

Contribution to the County’s 
Strategic Tourism Plan 

              

“Gut” reaction to application 
              

TOTAL POINTS  
              

 
Score 0 to 5 (excellent/high) for each criteria 

 



 

ACOD Task Force April, 2015 wrap‐up report    1 | P a g e  

 

ACOD Taskforce Wrap‐Up                4.15.15 

 
Taskforce Make Up 

Martha Armstrong          Ethan Ash     Will Burbank     
  Anne Gossen        Anne Kellerman   Tom Knipe                

Susie Monagan      Sue Perlgut              John Spence 
 
 

Process 
 Committee Charge 

(Attachment A). 
  

 Taskforce meeting dates        

9.13.14  10.1.14  4.10.15 
 

 Workable definition of a cultural organization 

The first order of business was to confirm the definition being used up to this 
point. 
 

 Eligibility criteria proposal developed 

Minor modifications to the established criteria for funding eligibility were 
suggested, mainly confirming that the program’s purpose is to support large, 
established, visitor oriented organizations.  The proposed eligibility criteria was 
then shared with all of the currently funded organizations. Their responses were 
documented and shared back with the Taskforce.  The Eligibility Checklist was 
discussed and finalized by the Taskforce at their meeting on 4.10.15 (Attachment 
B.)  As part of this effort the Taskforce documented the criteria to be considered a 
museum. (Attachment C)  

 

 Corresponding modifications were made to the grant guidelines, application form, review‐panel 
worksheet, and the year‐end report form to be completed by funded organizations.  

 
 

Summary of proposed Changes 
 Opening the application/funding process to new organizations that meet the eligibility criteria 

 Eliminating the requirement that an organization rent or own a facility of its own 

 Specific requirements added to eligibility requirements regarding audience size and the number 
of days of public programing 

 Acknowledgment that organizations with budgets under $500,000 may substitute a professional 
prepared financial review for a full audit. 

 Mandatory participation by funded organizations in two meetings per year, both organized by 
CAP. At the first they would be introduced to each other and to the concept of strengthening 
the Arts, Tourism, and Tompkins County’s Culture Brand through their efforts. The second 
meeting, later in the year, would be a gathering of peers, to check on progress, and a sharing a 
helpful ideas.  

  
 
 



 

ACOD Task Force April, 2015 wrap‐up report    2 | P a g e  

 

 

Committee Charge  
 
1. Given that the program’s current definition of an arts and culture organization may not be clear, 

what is a clear definition for an arts and culture organization for the purposes of establishing 
eligibility to apply for ACOD funding? 

Approved-   501(c)3, non-university and college affiliates, performing and visual 
arts organizations and museums whose programs are demonstrably geared to 
visitors and the general public. (From the implementation Guidelines 10.23.01) 

 
2. Should we confirm the ongoing validity of the initial intent of this funding source since 

established in 2003 – to provide organization development and capacity building support to large 
established arts and culture organizations in Tompkins County, as opposed to providing start‐up 
funding to new organizations? 

Yes. Define established organizations as having a minimum of a three year 
history. 

 
3. Should other established arts & culture organizations be encouraged to apply for ACOD funding?  

 
a. In other words, are there other established arts & culture organizations in our community 

who aren’t on the list of ACOD recipients who now meet or could be expected in the 
future to meet eligibility thresholds?  

Yes - If the organization meets the eligibility criteria, they should be 
encouraged to apply. 

 
b. Should the eligibility requirements be modified to accommodate new arts and culture 

applicants, or is it just a matter of encouraging them to apply under the existing 
requirements? 

Encourage them to apply under the newly developed requirements. 
 

c. Which specific other organizations might apply?  

Ithaca Shakespeare Company,  Cinemapolis,  Ithaca Ballet  
 
4. If there are other organizations which would fit current or modified eligibility requirements, how 

would an expansion of the program to new recipients be funded? 
 

d. If ACOD were to be expanded to include new partners, either in an arts and culture 
category, it would require either new funding or ramping down funding over time to 
existing partners.  

There is possibility that currently funded organizations may see a reduction in 
their funding.  

 
e. Given the status of room tax (large growth in available funding for Tourism Programs is 

not expected) it is likely that a ramp‐down of ACOD support to existing partners would 
be a better approach.  

The final approach to funding will be determined by the funds available, the 
number of eligible applicants, and the quality of their applications. No hard 
and fast policies for funding are being suggested at this time. Still, assuming 
high quality proposals, continued eligibility, and continued availability of room 



 

ACOD Task Force April, 2015 wrap‐up report    3 | P a g e  

 

tax funding, the intent would be to not see drastic reductions in overall funding 
to existing ACOD grant recipients.  

 
f. An "exit strategy" would need to be defined that minimize negative impact on existing 

partners. 

An exit strategy implies that we would stop funding an organization after a 
predetermined period of time. That approach is not being suggested by the 
Taskforce. The current thinking would be to clearly state the objectives of the 
funding and as long as an eligible organization’s application is meeting those 
objectives they would be eligible to receive some portion of the available funds. 

 

Additional questions addressed by the Taskforce 
 
1. Should the ACOD program continue awarding multi‐year contracts? 

Yes, two- year contracts are being proposed to allow for greater flexibility in 
administering the program than the current 3 year contracts. 

 
2. At the same level of funding each year or can the amount be modified according to 

performance? 

Coming up with a formula to reduce funding based on performance  
mid-contract, that is fair to all and manageable from an administrative stand 
point, would be very difficult. Poor performance could be a factor considered at 
the next round of applications. 

 
3. Can a more specific set of performance standards be articulated with funding linked to those 

standards? 

This would be difficult considering the diversity of funded organizations. The 
budget for administration would have to be increased substantially, which is 
not recommended at this time.   

 
4. Do we want to continue to fund highly successful organizations which seem to need the funding 

less? (If we continue to fund the same organizations, at the same level year after year, and there 
is no significant increase in funds available, it may be difficult to fund new initiatives.) 

At this point yes, we want to continue to fund highly successful organizations 
although financial need will continue to be a consideration as a part of the 
application evaluation.  

 
5. There is the danger that ACOD can be looked by the agency as a contribution to their general 

operating support, because in many ways, it is.  

Funded agencies should be reminded regularly that this funding is primarily 
aimed at organizational health, audience building, increased tourism, and 
organizational collaboration. We can expect turnover within the boards and staff 
of these organizations and plan to have to restate the purpose of this funding 
annually. To this end we are proposing mandatory annual meetings with 
representatives of the funded organizations. 
 

 
 



 

ACOD Task Force April, 2015 wrap‐up report    4 | P a g e  

 

 
Attachment A 
 
Arts & Culture Organizational Development (ACOD) Grant Program   

Special Committee to Review the ACOD Program  
June 5, 2014  
  

From: Tom Knipe and John Spence  
To: Strategic Tourism Planning Board (STPB)  
  

SUMMARY  

In early 2014, during its review of 2013 progress reports for six grant recipients along with two new 
applications, the Arts and Culture Organizational Development Grant review panel identified several 
questions which they recommended the Tourism Program revisit in depth.  A first‐time application from 
the Friends of Stewart Park (FOSP) was in part responsible for eliciting these questions.  FOSP was 
determined to be ineligible under the current grant guidelines, and their application also was very 
project‐focused as opposed to organizational development focused.  Nonetheless, the application 
elicited useful reactions. The panel’s questions coming out of their review process were:  
  

1. Multiyear funding and performance standards:  

• Should the ACOD program continue awarding multi‐year contracts?  

• At the same level of funding each year or can the amount be modified according to 

performance?  

• Can a more specific set of performance standards be articulated with funding linked to 

those standards?  

  

2. Do we want to continue to fund highly successful organizations which seem to need the funding 

less? (If we continue to fund the same organizations, at the same level year after year, and there 

is no significant increase in funds available, it may be difficult to fund new initiatives.)  

  

3. What is the best workable definition of a cultural organization?  

These questions are not new.  In (2008), the Strategic Tourism Planning Board (STPB) convened a special 
committee to examine some of these questions and others. At the time, it made recommendations for 
several modifications to the grant guidelines in response and left several other questions unanswered.    
  

Drawing from questions about the structure of the ACOD program, we have developed a charge for a 
special ACOD review committee. We expect that a special group consisting of balanced representation 
from the County Legislature, program staff and STPB Members including arts and culture 
representatives will need to meet two or three times over the course of the next several months to 
consider appropriate responses to these questions.  Given that a 2020 Strategic Tourism Plan was 
adopted in 2012, an additional overarching consideration is how to best align room tax funding with 
implementation of the Strategic Tourism Plan.  
  

 PROPOSED COMMITTEE CHARGE ……………………………………………………………………………………………..  



 

ACOD Task Force April, 2015 wrap‐up report    5 | P a g e  

 

1. Given that the program’s current definition of an arts and culture organization may not be clear, 
what is a clear definition for an arts and culture organization for the purposes of establishing 
eligibility to apply for ACOD funding?  

 
2. Should we confirm the ongoing validity of the initial intent of this funding source since 

established in 2003 – to provide organization development and capacity building support to 
large established arts and culture organizations in Tompkins County, as opposed to providing 
start‐up funding to new organizations?  
  

3. Should other established arts & culture organizations be encouraged to apply for ACOD funding?   

  

a. In other words, are there other established arts & culture organizations in our 

community who aren’t on the list of ACOD recipients who now meet or could be 

expected in the future to meet eligibility thresholds?   

b. Should the eligibility requirements be modified to accommodate new arts and culture 

applicants, or is it just a matter of encouraging them to apply under the existing 

requirements?  

c. Which specific other organizations might apply?   

  

4. If there are other organizations which would fit current or modified eligibility requirements, 

how would an expansion of the program to new recipients be funded?  

  

a. If ACOD were to be expanded to include new partners, it would require either new 

funding or ramping down funding over time to existing partners.   

b. Given the status of room tax (large growth in available funding for Tourism Programs is 

not expected) it is likely that a ramp‐down of ACOD support to existing partners would 

be a better approach.   

c. An "exit strategy" would need to be defined that minimize negative impact on existing 

partners.  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

ACOD Task Force April, 2015 wrap‐up report    6 | P a g e  

 

 
 
 
Attachment B 
 

Eligibility Checklist 
Tompkins County Arts and Culture Organizational Development (ACOD) Grants 

 
Organizations wishing to apply for ACOD funds should establish their eligibility prior to submitting a full 
application by submitting a letter of interest accompanied by the check list below to 
director@artspartner.org. An organization claiming to be eligible to apply for ACOD funding should be 
able to check yes to each of the eligibility thresholds below. 
 
 
YES  Organization Type 

☐    501c3 not for profit organization certified, and in good standing, by the State of New York 

☐  Arts and Culture Organization   

   ☐  Performing and/or Visual Arts Organization  OR   

                      ☐Museum (Chartered by NYS) 
 
 
YES  Established Organization 

☐  Have paid staff   

☐  Have sound governance, as demonstrated by being able to answer “yes” to at least five of 
the following six questions: 

1. A Board‐approved Mission Statement  
2. Board meetings, a minimum 4 times a year, documented with minutes  
3. Current strategic plan and evidence of long‐range planning  
4. An annual audit conducted by an independent auditor  
5. A Board‐approved annual operating budget  
6. Standing committees. For example; Executive, Finance, Development & 

Nominating Committee  

☐  Have met all of the threshold criteria listed on this page for three years or more. 
 
 
YES  Large, Visitor‐Oriented Organization   

☐  Activities are significantly supportive of tourism, as demonstrated by being able to answer 
“yes” to the following two questions:  

1. Is the total annual public audience 5,000 or more people? 
2. Do days in a year in which public programming is actively presented meet or 

exceed 20 days? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

ACOD Task Force April, 2015 wrap‐up report    7 | P a g e  

 

 
 
 
 

Attachment C 
 
 

Requirements to be a museum or historical society in NYS 
 
Information from: 
https://www.nysm.nysed.gov/services/charter/society.html 
https://www.nysm.nysed.gov/services/charter/museum.html 
 
 “Museums originate for the purpose of collecting, preserving and interpreting collections of objects… 
The focus of a historical society is usually on history, while that of a museum may be on art, science, 
history or any combination of the three.” 
 
An organization seeking to become a museum or historical society must have a statement of purpose, 
constitution and bylaws.  
 
Best practice is to incorporate with the Board of Regents in NYS in order to become a legal entity. This 
allows the organization to hold title to its collection (thus preventing the collection from falling into the 
hands of an individual if the organization should dissolve), and become eligible to apply for non‐profit, 
tax‐exempt 501(c)(3) status with the IRS.   
 
Incorporation is a two‐step process.  
1.  After the applicant is reviewed by the Office of Counsel and NY State Museum, the Board of Regents 
votes to issue a provisional charter.  
2. After the NY State Museum again reviews the applicant in a process termed registration (in which the 
stability of the organization is evaluated), the Board of Regents issues an absolute charter. 
 
Accreditation is an optional process that occurs several years later. It offers a peer‐based validation of 
the applicant’s operations and impact by evaluating the applicant’s adherence to core standards. It is 
governed by the American Alliance of Museums, and includes children’s museums, historical societies, 
arts centers, science centers, preservation societies, art museums, history museums, natural history 
museums, anthropology museums, ecology museums, historic houses/villages, botanical gardens, 
college art galleries, and more.   
 
In Ithaca the Sciencenter and the Johnson Museum of Art are accredited.  
 
Other national associations include the National Association for Science and Technology Associations, 
the American Association for State and Local History, the Association of Children’s Museums, 
Association of Zoos and Aquariums (has its own accreditation program), American Public Gardens 
Association, etc.  
 
 
 

AG 9/12/14 
 



Q1 2015 CVB Marketing Roundup: 
The Time We Broke the Internet

+1,567% 
Desktop Traffic

+4,558% 
Mobile Traffic

}Key West PR Crashes Visit Ithaca
But only for a few minutes. Our web 
servers were overloaded with hits. The 
7 days following the web pop-up that 
launched on Feb 15 yielded nearly 
200,000 hits on desktop and mobile. 
 

Record PR Impressions Result
Good Morning America, CNN, The 
Weather Channel - every media outlet 
nationwide (and beyond) was buzzing 
about Ithaca, resulting in over $3.8 
million in earned media value.

}
Lake House Campaign Success
It takes the same amount of time to 
send an email to 10 people as it does 
to send to 10million. The lake house 
sweepstakes drove our e-marketing 
list up with over 18,000 entries.

}

Niche Marketing: Focus on LGBTQ
In alignment with the county strategic 
plan, the CVB has taken steps toward 
LGBTQ tourism marketing. A focus 
group provided insight for a 2015 
campaign promoting Ithaca as an 
“LGBTQ-Friendly” destination.

} LGBTQ front-line 
sensitivity training

Social Media Growth
Reaching 23,560 fans, Facebook is a 
powerful outlet for social influence. 
With 88% of fans outside Ithaca 
and 77% women, it reaches a prime 
tourism audience.

}

2014 vs.2015 H
its

W
e

b
 &

 B
ro

a
d

ca
st H

its
C

a
m

p
a

ig
n

 R
O

I
Fo

cu
s G

ro
u

p
 H

ig
h

lig
h

ts

Visit Ithaca Mobile 
Traffic Up 539% YoY

Visit Ithaca Desktop 
Traffic Up 166% YoY

330,196 Desktop & 
Mobile Page Views

Q1 Top Highlights:

430 
Broadcast 

Outlets
>

Nielsen Audience

649 
Online 

Outlets
>

Impressions
Fa

ce
b

o
o

k
 Fa

n
s

2,442 
Q1 Growth

88% 
Out-Of-Market

12% 
In-Market Fans

23,560 
Total Likes

85% 
Contact Increase

16,842 
New Q1 Contacts 

48,377 
Resulting Web Hits

31% 
Open Rate

Website to 
reinforce LGBTQ-
friendly lodging, 
attractions, dining

Group destination 
for LGBTQ audience

Traditional 
marketing to 

incorporate more 
same-sex couples




